THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 03 2015

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

SC Court of Appeals

D. Craig Brown, Presiding Judge, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Court of Appeals Case No. 2013-002578
Circuit Court Case No. 2012-CP-07-1352

Bruce R. Hoffman,

Appellant,

v.

Seneca Specialty Insurance Company; CRC Insurance Company; CRC Insurance Services, Inc. d/b/a Southern Cross Underwriters of Sumter; Aydlette Services of Lowcountry, Inc., and Capstone ISG, Inc.,
Defendants,

Of whom Seneca Specialty Insurance Company is the Respondent.

APPELLANT'S [] BRIEF

LAW OFFICE OF BRUCE R. HOFFMAN, LLC,
BY: BRUCE R. HOFFMAN,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Bruce R. Hoffman (hereafter Plaintiff), a citizen and resident of Beaufort County, South Carolina, owns, and at all relevant times owned, a commercial office building at 574 Sea Island Parkway, Saint Helena Island, South Carolina. Defendant Seneca Specialty Insurance Company (hereafter Defendant), a New York (Wall Street) insurance company, is licensed, and at all relevant times was licensed, to conduct insurance business in South Carolina. Pursuant to this license, Defendant sold Plaintiff a commercial insurance policy on the aforementioned building effective from 6/12/11, through 6/12/12. Plaintiff paid all insurance premiums due for said policy, and in exchange thereof, Defendant agreed to cover losses to the building (R37-8).

During the winter of 2011/2012, Plaintiff's office building sustained substantial damage to the roof, attic, heating/cooling air ducts and system, as well as work spaces, proximately caused by raccoons, a North American wild animal, descended from bears, or by other cause that Plaintiff contends in this suit should have been covered and repaired (R38).

Plaintiff made a claim for this damage to Defendant on or about February 3, 2012. On or about February 8, 2012, Defendant sent an adjuster from Capstone ISG to investigate, evaluate, report and adjust said claim for Defendant. This adjuster confirmed for Plaintiff that the proximate cause of the damage to his office building was raccoons, and gave the impression to Plaintiff that the damage would be covered by the insurance policy and quickly repaired, even asking Plaintiff if there was somewhere he could relocate to while the repairs were taking place (R38-9, 146).

But then to Plaintiff's great surprise, given the above representations, Defendant denied Plaintiff's claim by letter dated March 15, 2012 (R39). This letter, while also acknowledging that raccoons had proximately caused all the damage that was the subject of the claim, based it's

denial on an exclusion in the policy that provides:

“We will not pay for loss or damage caused by or resulting from any of the following ... Nesting or infestation, or discharge or release of waste products or secretions, by insects, birds, rodents or other animals.” (R45)

In response to this denial of coverage, this lawsuit was filed on April 3, 2012 (R37). On October 2, 2013, the Honorable D. Craig Brown, Presiding Judge, 14th Judicial Circuit, heard Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, despite Plaintiff’s objection that he had no jurisdiction to proceed due to a pending appeal involving another party to the case, and refusing Plaintiff’s motion made in open court to file a supplement to his Complaint (R136, 144-6, 202-3).

On November 12, 2013, Plaintiff received notice that Judge Brown had signed, on October 24, 2013, proposed orders submitted by Defendant denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment and granting Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, without Plaintiff having been offered an opportunity by the Judge to comment on or object to either of Defendant’s proposed orders before they were signed (R22, 33, 219-220). Judge Brown made no changes whatsoever to the two proposed orders Defendant submitted, “rubber stamping” both of them exactly as Defendant had written them. This appeal of both orders followed on November 27, 2013 (R147).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did Judge Brown err in granting Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment?
2. Did Judge Brown err in denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment?
3. Did Judge Brown err in hearing and ruling on the Summary Judgment motions when there was a pending appeal involving another party to the case?
4. Did Judge Brown err in refusing to allow Plaintiff to file a supplement to his Complaint

per motion made in open court on October 2, 2013?

5. Did Judge Brown err and/or deny Plaintiff due process by failing to offer Plaintiff an opportunity to comment on or object to either of Defendant's proposed orders before they were signed, and by making no changes whatsoever ("rubber stamping") to the two proposed orders that Defendant had submitted?
6. Did Judge Brown err in deeming admitted Defendant's requests to admit in his October 24, 2013 Order though Plaintiff had timely responded in writing to all the requests.

ARGUMENT

OTHER ANIMALS IN POLICY IS NOT ALL ANIMALS OR ALL OTHER ANIMALS.

INSTEAD IS OTHER ANIMALS LIKE THOSE SPECIFICALLY LISTED AND

RACCOONS ARE NOT VERMIN LIKE THE OTHER ANIMALS SPECIFICALLY

LISTED. SUBSTANTIAL BURDEN ON INSURANCE COMPANY TO PROVE

EXCLUSION, HERE EXCLUSION IS AMBIGUOUS AS TO RACCOON DAMAGE, SO

RACCOON DAMAGE NOT EXCLUDED, IS COVERED

Obviously, the phrase "or other animals" in the exclusion at issue (this exclusion being the only defense Defendant has raised against coverage in two years of litigation) is vague and ambiguous. It does not say "all other animals", or "all animals" (it could and should have said "all", if that's what they meant, but it doesn't, and they had the obligation to be clear one way or the other). It merely says "or other animals." What "other animals" are we talking about?

In Hansen ex rel. Hansen v. United Services Auto Ass'n, 565 SE2d 114 (2002) it was held that, "a contract is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one meaning when viewed objectively by a reasonably intelligent person who has examined the context of the entire integrated agreement and who is cognizant of the customs, practices, usages and terminology as generally understood in the particular trade or business." Further, a contract is ambiguous when it may fairly and

reasonably be understood in more ways than one. *Id.* at 117. Where language used in an insurance contract is ambiguous, or where it is capable of two reasonable interpretations, that construction which is most favorable to the insured will be adopted. *Id.* As noted in Black's Law Dictionary 5th, "following an enumeration of particular classes, "other" must be read as "other such like," and includes ONLY others of like kind and character." The enumerated class in the exclusion at issue here was "insects, birds and rodents," and raccoons are objectively not of like kind and character as insects, birds and rodents, so raccoon damage is not excluded by that exclusion, and thus is covered.

ONLY with the application of the ejusdem generis rule, and the record contains the relevant pages from Couch on Insurance (R62-3, 69-70, 136-137, 141-2) discussing this rule of nationwide insurance policy application, does this objectively ambiguous exclusion become clear, the specific controls the general. "Other animals," like insects, birds and rodents, and raccoons are certainly NOT of that same kind as those specifically enumerated in the exclusion.

Again, it is the ejusdem generis rule that cures what would otherwise be an ambiguity (what other animals?) in the exclusion at issue here. The *ejusdem generis* (or *eiusdem generis*, Latin for "of the same kind") rule applies to resolve the problem of giving meaning to groups of words where one of the words is ambiguous or inherently unclear. The rule results that where "general words follow enumerations of particular classes or persons or things, the general words shall be construed as applicable only to persons or things of the same general nature or kind as those enumerated." 49 F Supp 846, 859 *Ejusdem generis* ("of the same kinds, class, or nature"). When a list of two or more specific descriptors is followed by more general descriptors, the otherwise wide meaning of the general descriptors must be restricted to the same class, if any, of the specific words that precede them. For example, where "cars, motor bikes, motor powered vehicles" are mentioned, the word "vehicles" would be interpreted in a limited sense (therefore

vehicles cannot be interpreted as including airplanes). Likewise in this case, with insects, birds, rodents and other animals, the ejusdem generis rule requires that other animals in such a clause be limited to those animals like insects, birds and rodents, and objectively raccoons are not in that category.

There are myriad writings, on the Internet and otherwise, demonstrating that the phrase “other animals”, as in the policy at issue here, is commonly considered, by the average person, to mean “and the like”, in other words, “other animals” like the “insects, birds, rodents” specifically listed just before the phrase “other animals” in the exclusion. It does not mean “all other animals”, if that was the intention (and the policy is supposed to be construed against the insurance company, not against the insured), it would have said “all other animals.” As raccoons are not specifically listed, and are not an animal like insects, birds and rodents, then either damage from raccoons is not excluded, or it is ambiguous whether damage from raccoons is excluded or not – either way the damage in this case, which the insurance company and their adjuster say was caused by raccoons, is covered.

For just one example, attached to a pleading in the record and incorporated herein by reference (R62-3, 69-70, 136-137, 141-2) is an article from the Boston College Environmental Affairs Law Review, Volume 14, Issue 4, Article 3, which, referencing primarily Couch on Insurance, states in pertinent part: “Where a contract’s terms are ambiguous, courts favor a reasonable construction that supports coverage. When a court construes ambiguities in favor of coverage it prevents frustration of the basic purpose for purchasing insurance: the indemnification of losses. Provisions in a contract are ambiguous if particular words are reasonably susceptible to more than one interpretation. Courts require those phrases that create exceptions to the basic coverage provisions – “exclusions” – to clearly exclude coverage in order to prevent the elimination of more coverage than intended by the insured. Courts will not honor the insurer’s intention to

limit coverage of certain risks if this intention is ambiguously expressed. Instead, courts look for both parties' objectively-manifested intent, as implied by the words of the contract. One principle of contract interpretation that courts will use to imply the parties' intent is that of ejusdem generis (latin for "of the same kind"). This principle allows a court to infer that specific words restrict the meaning of general terms when the specific terms precede the general terms in a particular phrase. Thus, in a phrase "cattle, hogs and other animals," "animals" may not refer to much more than farm animals, because the specific animals mentioned before the general word are hogs and cattle.

In this regard, *Ejusdem generis* is only one aspect of a broader doctrine holding that general phrases may be restricted in meaning by being grouped with specific terms regardless of the ordering. Thus, as in the above example, the term "animals" in the phrase "animals, cattle and hogs" may be limited to farm animals under this broader doctrine [with "other animals" in the policy at issue having to be limited the same way]. In applying construction doctrines, courts look to the ordinary meanings of the words used in a phrase to discern the intent of the parties. Closely related to a court's attempt to find the objective intent of the parties is the court's attempt to discern the reasonable expectations of the insured as to coverage. Since the insurer drafts and controls the wording of the insurance policy, the expectations of a reasonably prudent person buying the insurance is given more weight than the expectations of the insurer. The known character of the insured's business [in a rural office as here] affects the assumed expectations of both parties to the contract. **When a risk is one that a prudent person in the position of the insured would reasonably expect to be covered, an exclusion clause must clearly bar coverage to be effective.** Insurers have the burden of establishing that an exclusion clause clearly denies coverage (it is hornbook law that issue of coverage and policy generally must be strictly construed in favor of insured and against insurer who wrote the policy, a point the lower Court seems to have missed).

In this regard, again, the exclusion in the policy for damage from nesting, infestation or release of waste products by *insects, birds, rodents or other animals*, does not apply here. The ejusdem generis doctrine (as discussed in Couch on Insurance, Latin for “of the same kind”) holds that in interpreting an exclusion in an insurance policy, the specific controls the general, i.e. the other animals here would not be all animals, but instead other animals like insects, birds or rodents, and objectively, the raccoons that caused the damage at issue here are not animals like insects, birds or rodents. They den, not nest. They are North American wild animals (furbearing and protected in South Carolina) descended from bears. They have been held to not be vermin. They growled at Plaintiff as noted in the Complaint, which vermin are not known to do.

Under these circumstances, the burden to prove raccoon damage is excluded is on the insurer, not on the Plaintiff, and objectively here, their use of "other animals" is ambiguous on its face, and coverage and repair thus must occur. Jones v. Equicredit Corp., 347 S.C. 535, 556 S.E.2d 713 states that "when there is no South Carolina case directly on point, our court may look to other jurisdictions for persuasive authority." In this regard, see, e.g., Umanoff v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 442 N.Y.S.2d 892 (N.Y. Civ. Ct. 1981) where it was held that raccoons are not vermin and, as not named specifically as excluded in the policy, there was coverage for raccoon damage under a policy that excluded vermin damage. Also, in Marks v. Trinity Universal Ins. Co., 531 So.2d 516, 517 (La. Ct. App. 1988), the court concluded a similar exclusion in a policy was ambiguous, in a case involving a squirrel. In this regard it is generally accepted that raccoons, as a member of the bear family, fall outside any vermin-like exclusion in a policy, vermin coming from the Latin *vermis*, which means "worm", i.e. insect-like animals. The only actual defense that Defendant has raised in two years of time consuming, expensive litigation is this exclusion, and I have proven why this exclusion does not apply, so summary judgment should have been entered for Plaintiff.

But if somehow there is not coverage for raccoon damage despite the foregoing, then I was sold an inappropriate policy by Defendant's agents, and induced not to cancel same, and a triable issue existed whether the repairs should have been paid for by the insurance company on this basis also (R39, 63, 65-6, 70-2, 75, 137, 142, 215-219). The supplement to complaint which Plaintiff moved to file, but the Court would not let Plaintiff file, on October 2, 2013, though no one would have been prejudiced thereby, elaborated on this claim and other claims that raised triable issues, but Judge Brown refused to consider it, and wrongfully so (R 144-6, 160-1, 202-3).

Further, in discovery Seneca produced pages from the Property Loss Research Bureau (PLRB), obviously a resource they rely on in making coverage determinations. Included was the attached definition of "rodents" which notes that **"Animals frequently mistaken for rodents are opossums, moles and hedgehogs, and raccoons and skunks."** (R 49-50, 139-140) By having produced this page in discovery, Seneca admitted that raccoons are not rodents, and they are certainly not birds nor insects, so the lower Court could not possibly find that the exclusion included raccoons, and barring that, it should have been found to be ambiguous.

Also received in discovery was the attached page from the report of Robert Dodd, adjuster for Seneca, noting in "recommendations" that **"Per the instructions received from your office on 2/12/12, raccoons are considered rodents and are excluded from coverage. As such, we recommend denial of this claim and closing the file without payment."** (R 63, 71, 75, 172)

Besides Mr. Dodd clearly not being the independent adjuster he claimed to be 1) that Seneca was pondering whether raccoons are rodents, shows that even they know the policy exclusion at issue does not exclude all other animals, but only other animals like rodents, of that same kind; and 2) if they were telling Dodd to say that raccoons are rodents, when raccoons, which are wild animals descended from bears that den and do not nest, are objectively not rodents, and their own PLRB research material says raccoons are not rodents (and certainly not birds nor insects), then

they are trying to apply an exclusion that they know did not apply here, to limit coverage when there should clearly have been coverage. This was a clear bad faith denial of a claim, or at least a triable issue that would not allow for the granting of Defendant's all or nothing summary judgment motion. If their own PLRB research said raccoons are not rodents, but they are telling the adjuster to say raccoons are rodents to deny coverage, this was clearly evidence of a bad faith denial of a claim, but Judge Brown ignored this.

Either the exclusion is ambiguous or raccoons are not part of the exclusion, but either way, there is coverage here for the losses claimed, and the Court must so order (as well as compel the repair of the office building, roof, heating and air ducts, cleanup, etc). In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist on a Motion for Summary Judgment (not who will prevail, but just whether a single disputed material fact exists), the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. All ambiguities, conclusions and inferences arising in and from the evidence must be considered in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Tom Jenkins Realty v. Hilton, 300 SE2d 594 (1983).

Additionally, even if the Court did find the exclusion applied here with raccoon damage (though the words raccoon or raccoons appear nowhere in any exclusion, or in the policy otherwise), there was an exception to the exclusion in the policy itself for ensuing damage, and there would be liability under the insurance contract for such ensuing damage, or at least a triable issue as to the scope of same (called resulting loss in commercial policies, like to the HVAC system here. Even the Order granting Defendant summary judgment being appealed here, references the relevant provision in the insurance policy that would allow coverage even with an exclusion, "But if an excluded cause of loss that is listed in 3.a through 3.c results in a Covered Cause of Loss, we will pay for the loss or damage caused by the Covered Cause of Loss," an argument Plaintiff made both in his papers (R 137-8) and at the hearing (R206). So if Judge Brown had

actually read the proposed order he signed, there was no way summary judgment could be granted based on the exclusion alone, as even if the exclusion did apply, there may have been resulting loss that was covered, and Plaintiff was contractually entitled to the opportunity to prove what resulting loss should be covered (a fact question for trial).

And even if the Court did find that raccoon damage was excluded under this policy, an impossibility given the foregoing, also another page produced by Defendant Seneca from their PLRB manual, says that the exclusion could be subject to an ENSUING LOSS EXCEPTION, that "Recovery has been allowed for losses that resulted from damage caused by creatures which are subject to similar exclusions and resulting loss provisions." The resource notes that ensuing loss is called resulting loss in commercial policies, and that as any ensuing or resulting loss not excluded is covered, all ensuing losses here, e.g. all the damage to the HVAC system, etc. would be covered (R139, 140). The point was and remains that even if the lower Court somehow found that the exclusion did apply here (that raccoons are animals like insects, birds and rodents), then the exception to the exclusion for ensuing losses would apply, and these ensuing losses would be covered. So any way you look at it, the all or nothing summary judgment motion of Seneca had to be denied.

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