THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

RECEIVED  
DEC 05 2014

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

Circuit Case No. 2012-CP-07-1352  
Appellate Case No. 2013-002578

---

Bruce R. Hoffman,

Appellant,

v.

Seneca Specialty Insurance Company; CRC Insurance  
Company; CRC Insurance Services, Inc. d/b/a Southern Cross  
Underwriters of Sumter; Adylette Services of Lowcountry, Inc.,  
and Capstone ISG, Inc.,

Defendants,

Of whom Seneca Specialty Insurance Company is the Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

YOUNG CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP  
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No 66468)

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

den, not nest.<sup>[13]</sup> They are North American wild animals (furbearing and protected in South Carolina) descended from bears. They have been held to not be vermin. They growled at [Hoffman] . . . , which vermin are not known to do.” (App’s Br. pp. 5 and 8.)

Argument of this nature is rightfully deemed abandoned and insufficient to upset the circuit court’s summary judgment in favor of Seneca. See First Sav. Bank v. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (1994) (stating the appellant was deemed to have abandoned issue for which he failed to provide any argument or supporting authority).

**E. Hoffman’s argument that raccoons “fall outside any vermin-like exclusion in a policy . . .” is unavailing.**

The closest Hoffman comes to substantiating his position that application of the ejusdem generis doctrine would place raccoons outside the bounds of the subject exclusion is when he argues that raccoons “have been held to not be vermin.” (App’s Br. p. 8.)

Nowhere, in the circuit court’s order granting summary judgment in favor of Seneca is this argument addressed, however, and Hoffman did not make a Rule 59(e) to obtain a ruling thereon. (R. pp. 22-32). Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. Elam, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at

---

<sup>13</sup> Seneca notes that Hoffman appears to have overlooked or ignored the “[n]esting or infestation” language of the exclusion. (Supp. R. p. 2) (emphasis added )

779-80; Noisette, 304 S.C. at 58, 403 S.E.2d at 124; *see also* Floyd, 365 S.C. at 73, 615 S.E.2d at 474.

Regardless, Hoffman's reliance upon authorities addressing the definition of the word "vermin" is misguided, because that issue is simply not involved in this case. In the present case, as both Judge Dukes and Judge Brown found, the word "animal," while broad, is clearly defined and reasonably understood, and the words "other animals" contained in the subject exclusion are not ambiguous. (R. pp. 3-6; R. pp. 7-10; R. pp. 22-32.)

**F. Hoffman's alternative argument about being "sold an inappropriate policy by [Respondent's] agents"<sup>14</sup> and not being allowed to file a supplement to this complaint to elaborate on this point is unavailing.**

Nowhere in the circuit court's order granting summary judgment in favor of Seneca is this argument addressed, and Hoffman did not make a Rule 59(e) to obtain a ruling thereon. (R. pp. 22-32). Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. Elam, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80; Noisette, 304 S.C. at 58, 403 S.E.2d at 124; *see also* Floyd, 365 S.C. at 73, 615 S.E.2d at 474.

Moreover, during the hearing on October 2, 2013, the following exchange occurred between Hoffman and Judge Brown:

**[HOFFMAN]:** I now have here a supplement

---

<sup>14</sup> (App's Br. p. 8 )

to the complaint . . . . And I assumed I needed to leave the court to file this. But if I get - - can get leave of court I can file this and serve this now. . . .

[**COURT**]: Well, that motion is not current and proper before the court at this time. You are outside of the timeframe for purposes of filing an amended complaint. If you so desire to file an amended complaint, you need to file it. If they don't consent, you need to file a motion and get that before the Court.

[**HOFFMAN**]: Okay, it was the supplement. Does it matter, same - - -

[**COURT**]: Same thing. As far as the court is concerned I mean if you're changing it, it is an amended. It's an amended complaint.

[**HOFFMAN**]: **Okay. All right. So I will move on.** . . . .

(R. p. 203, line 2 - p. 204, line 4) (emphasis added).

The record makes clear that conceded this issue in the circuit court and cannot argue it now. TNS Mills, 331 S.C. at 611, 503 S.E.2d at 474 (1998). Also, Hoffman's brief is patently conclusory on this point—citing not legal authority at all—and it is rightfully deemed abandoned. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513.

**G. Hoffman's argument based on "pages from the Property Loss Research Bureau (PRLB)"<sup>15</sup> is unavailing.**

Nowhere in the circuit court's order granting summary judgment in

---

<sup>15</sup> (App's Br p 9)

favor of Seneca is this argument addressed, and Hoffman did not make a Rule 59(e) to obtain a ruling thereon. (R. pp. 22-32). Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. Elam, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80; Noisette, 304 S.C. at 58, 403 S.E.2d at 124; *see also* Floyd, 365 S.C. at 73, 615 S.E.2d at 474.

Also, Hoffman’s brief is patently conclusory on this point—citing no legal authority at all—and it is rightfully deemed abandoned. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513. And even assuming, *arguendo*, that Seneca did—as Hoffman simply concludes—“admit[] that raccoons are not rodents,” as explained above with respect to Hoffman’s citation of authority addressing the word “vermin,” such an admission is wholly irrelevant with respect to the term words “other animals,” which the circuit court found not to be ambiguous. (R. pp. 3-6; R. pp. 7-10; R. pp. 22-32.)

Moreover, with particular respect to Hoffman’s insurance bad faith cause of action, citing Crossley v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Company, 307 S.C. 354, 359-60, 415 S.E. 393, 396-97 (1992), the circuit court recognized that “if there is a reasonable basis for denial of the insured’s claim, there can be no bad faith” and found that Seneca had a reasonable basis for denial in light of the investigation by Dodds/Capstone on Seneca’s behalf and the uncontroverted fact “that animal infestation was

the cause of the damage to the property.” (R. p. 28.) There is no reasonable question as to whether Seneca had a reasonable basis for denial of Hoffman’s claim. *See Rife v. Hitachi Constr. Mach. Co. Ltd.*, 363 S.C. 209, 214, 609 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[W]hen plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted.”).

**H. Hoffman’s argument based on the applicability or potential applicability of an ensuing loss exception to the subject exclusion<sup>16</sup> is unavailing.**

Nowhere in the circuit court’s order granting summary judgment in favor of Seneca is this argument addressed, and Hoffman did not make a Rule 59(e) to obtain a ruling thereon. (R. pp. 22-32). Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. *Elam*, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80; *Noisette*, 304 S.C. at 58, 403 S.E.2d at 124; *see also Floyd*, 365 S.C. at 73, 615 S.E.2d at 474.

Also, Hoffman’s brief is patently conclusory on this point—citing no legal authority and undertaking no substantive legal analysis at all—and it is rightfully deemed abandoned. *McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513.

Moreover, the policy language that Hoffman cites as being “the relevant provision in the insurance policy that would allow coverage even

---

<sup>16</sup> (App’s Br. p. 10.)

with an exclusion,” is irrelevant. The language Hoffman cites is under section “**B.3**” on the policy’s “Causes of Loss – Special Loss” and has applicability only to “an excluded cause of loss that is listed in **3.a** through **3.c. . . .**” (Supp. R. p. 3) (emphasis in original.) By its own terms, section “**B.3**” has no impact upon the subject exclusion, which is set forth in section “**B.2.**” (Supp. R. pp. 2-3) (emphasis in original.)

Further still, Hoffman’s reference to the page from the PLRB manual is unavailing. While section “**B.2**” is where the subject animal exclusion is contained, in pertinent part, that sections provides as follows: “[b]ut if an excluded cause of loss that is listed in **2.d.(1)** through **(7)** results in a ‘specified cause of loss’ or building glass breakage, we will pay for the loss or damage caused by that ‘specified cause of loss’ or building glass breakage.” (Supp. R. p. 3) (emphasis in original.) In keeping with the conclusory nature of his argument, Hoffman provides no analysis as to how this provision helps his position. Indeed, Hoffman does not at all address the following (particularly pertinent) language from the very PLRB page that he cites: “[h]owever, keep in mind that the resulting loss provision that applies to the nesting, infestation, etc., of insects, birds, rodents or other animals, only covers those resulting losses caused by the ‘specified causes of loss’ or building glass breakage, not any covered loss.” (R. p. 50.) Hoffman has

offered no analysis to show that any “specified causes of loss” or building glass breakage are involved here—and, indeed, a review of the policy in this regard does show any relevance to this case. (Supp. R. p. 9.)

**I. Hoffman’s argument about unjust enrichment<sup>17</sup> is unavailing.**

Hoffman’s brief includes a reference to a claim of unjust enrichment. As an initial matter, no such claim has been pleaded by Hoffman. (R. pp. 37-43.) Not surprisingly, nowhere in the circuit court’s order granting summary judgment in favor of Seneca is this argument addressed, and Hoffman did not make a Rule 59(e) to obtain a ruling thereon. (R. pp. 22-32). Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. Elam, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80; Noisette, 304 S.C. at 58, 403 S.E.2d at 124; *see also* Floyd, 365 S.C. at 73, 615 S.E.2d at 474. Also, Hoffman’s brief is patently conclusory on this point—citing no legal authority and undertaking no substantive legal analysis at all—and it is rightfully deemed abandoned. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513.

**J. Hoffman’s challenge to the circuit court’s grant of summary judgment to Seneca on his cause of action for violation of SCUTPA<sup>18</sup> is unavailing.**

In granting Seneca summary judgment on Hoffman’s SCUTPA claim,

---

<sup>17</sup> (App’s Br. p. 10 )

<sup>18</sup> (App’s Br. p. 10.)

the circuit court utilized a number of independent bases, any one of which would support the summary judgment. The circuit court found that the legislature exempted insurance claims practices from the provisions of SCUTPA; that, even if, Hoffman could show a breach of contract, such a breach of contract between private parties is insufficient to support a SCUTPA claim; and that Hoffman failed to produce any evidence to establish the essential element of impact upon the public interest. (R. pp. 29-30.)

A review of Hoffman's brief shows that he has not effectively challenged all of the independent bases of the circuit court's summary judgment on the SCUTPA claim—indeed, Seneca does not believe that Hoffman has effectively challenged any of these bases. Accordingly, Hoffman cannot undermine the circuit court's grant of summary judgment to Seneca on appeal. Jinks, 355 S.C. at 344, 585 S.E.2d at 283, n. 3 (an issue which is not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and precludes consideration on appeal); Soden, 333 S.C. at 566, 511 S.E.2d at 378 (holding an “unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance”); Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) (“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all

grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.”).

Also, Hoffman’s brief is patently conclusory on this point—citing no legal authority and undertaking no substantive legal analysis at all—and it is rightfully deemed abandoned. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513.

**K. Hoffman’s argument that that the circuit erred in deeming the requests to admit that Seneca served upon him admitted is unavailing.**

As an initial matter, this issue/argument is irrelevant, because there is no genuine issue as to any fact deemed by the circuit court to have been admitted by Hoffman anyway. Indeed, Hoffman has elsewhere in the record plainly admitted that a raccoon is an animal, that raccoons or other animals caused damage to the subject property, that he made a property damage claim on February 3, 2012; and that Dodd personally inspected the property on February 8, 2012, on behalf of Seneca. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 204, lines 5-15; *see generally* App’s Br.) Deeming the requests admitted was not necessary to support the summary judgment in favor of Seneca.

Nonetheless, Hoffman’s argument is without merit. As well explained by the circuit court,<sup>19</sup> Hoffman’s purported response to Seneca’s requests to admit via one-line post script on a letter not addressed to Seneca’s counsel, but merely on which Seneca’s counsel was copied, is

---

<sup>19</sup> (*See* R. pp. 31-32 )

nowhere close to compliance with Rule 36, SCRCP, and Hoffman has in no way shown any abuse of discretion on the part of the circuit court in deeming the requests admitted. To the contrary, Hoffman's assertion that he did "all that is required by SCRCP, Rule 36"<sup>20</sup> is patently conclusory and rightfully deemed abandoned. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513.

**II. The circuit court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent (and denial of summary judgment to Appellant) was matter not affected by the then pending appeal in this case involving Hoffman and CRC; consequently, the circuit court had jurisdiction rule on the summary judgment motions.**

Rule 205, SCACR, makes clear that, notwithstanding service of a notice of appeal, the circuit court retains jurisdiction over, and may proceed with, matters not affected by the appeal. *See also* Rule 241(a), SCARC ("The lower court . . . retains jurisdiction over matters not affected by the appeal including the authority to enforce any matters not stayed by the appeal."); Metts v. Mims, 384 S.C. 491, 498, 682 S.E.2d 813, 817 (2009) ("The trial court's ruling on the constitutional actual malice issue was clearly unrelated to the discovery dispute involving the Newspapers' financial data. Thus, the trial court properly proceeded on the summary judgment motion, despite the pending appeal on the contempt order. Rule 205, SCACR.").

The question of the circuit court's jurisdiction pending appeal

---

<sup>20</sup> (App's Br at p. 15) (underline in original omitted.)

therefore turns on the relationship, or lack thereof, between the matter on appeal and the matter before the circuit court. Here, again, Hoffman's brief is conclusory—without actually analyzing the order on appeal—simply proclaiming the summary judgment orders were affected by the order on appeal, and this point may be deemed abandoned. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513.

In any event, the unrelated nature of the order on appeal (which granted summary judgment to CRC) is clear when its substance is examined:

Defendant CRC Insurance is a brokerage and underwriting company. It does not insure persons or businesses nor does it write insurance policies. It is not party to the Subject Policy. It is not party to any written or oral contract with Plaintiff. Defendant CRC did not investigate Plaintiff's claim. It did not deny Plaintiff's claim. Defendant CRC acted strictly as an underwriter/broker for the Subject Policy.

(R. p. 12.) Against this backdrop, the circuit court found that CRC was entitled to summary judgment as to Hoffman's breach of contract and insurance bad faith claims, because CRC had no contractual relationship with Hoffman, and the existence of such a relationship is a key element for both causes of action, and likewise entitled to summary judgment on Hoffman's SCUTPA claim, because CRC owned no duties or obligations to Hoffman under the subject policy. (R. p. 12.) In this same vein, the circuit

court found that CRC was entitled to summary judgment on Hoffman's SCUTPA claim, because "[e]ven if [Hoffman] is successful and the Court ultimately declares the loss was covered by the Subject Policy, this would in no way implicate CRC because it is not party to the insurance contract." (R. p. 12.)

The summary judgment motions that the circuit court decided by orders filed November 12, 2013, were matters unaffected by the then pending appeal of the summary judgment in favor of CRC; consequently, the circuit court possessed jurisdiction to grant summary judgment to Seneca and deny the same to Hoffman.

**III. That the circuit court chose to adopt and enter proposed orders submitted by Seneca's counsel (granting Seneca summary judgment and denying Hoffman summary judgment) does not render the orders void for lack of due process, and, in any event, any issue in this regard is unpreserved for appellate review.**

As an initial matter, any issue in this regard is clearly not preserved for appellate review, because Hoffman did not raise the issue and obtain a ruling on it in the circuit court. Elam, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779-80; Noisette, 304 S.C. at 58, 403 S.E.2d at 124; *see also* Floyd, 365 S.C. at 73, 615 S.E.2d at 474.

Moreover, Hoffman's statement that Judge Brown "did not give the matter the meaningful attention or consideration that his oath of office and

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